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Veikkaus’ 75th anniversary was a success. We managed to 
achieve our objectives despite the overall weak consumer 
demand. Big jackpots in the jackpot games, an active reform 
of the game portfolio, and long-term development of the 
digital services were keys to success in 2015.  

The turnover of the financial year went up to EUR 2,095.3 
million (+6.9%). The game margin amounted to EUR 885.1 

million (+2.6%). The game margin is calculated by subt-
racting the prizes paid to players from the turnover. The 
growth of the game margin trended downwards by 0.7 
percentage points. This can be explained by the doub-
ling up of Lotto’s jackpots and the large prize payouts in 
Fixed Odds Betting in particular. The financial profit EUR 
536.7 million (+3.4%) and the result EUR 537.1 million 

Board of Directors’ Report

(+3.2%) increased thanks to both the growth of the game 
margin and our cost-efficient operations. 

The Finnish gaming market grew by 2.5% in 2015, the total 
market reaching EUR 1,743 million in terms of the game 
margin. Veikkaus’ share of Finnish gaming amounted to 
50.8 % (+0.1 percentage points). The growth of the ga-
ming market was curbed by the weak domestic consumer 
demand and the stricter official guidelines concerning the 
marketing of games.  

Investing in cost-efficiency and 
digital gaming 

During the year under review, we continued to pay special 
attention to cost-efficiency. The costs developed according 
to expectations. The prize payout to players exceeded the 
growth of sales, a total of EUR 1,210.2 million (+10.4%), 
i.e. 57.8% of the turnover. Retailer commissions amounted 
to EUR 79.2 million (+1.5%). Remodelling the terminals of 
the monitoring system increased the costs of monitoring 
and official supervision (EUR 5.5 million, +12.7%). 0
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Turnover 

EUR 2,095.3 million  
(+6.9%)

Result  

EUR 537.1 million 
(+3.2%)

Profit before appropriations

EUR 536.7 million 
(+3.4%)

Key figures
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New recruitments centred on digital gaming and the imple-
mentation of the gaming system. However, the HR expenses 
went down due to a favourable development of the statutory 
social cost percentage and a change in the performance-ba-
sed salary reserve. The other operating costs increased as 
a result of the promotion of registered gaming, brand work, 
the development of digital operating models, and the various 
events organized to celebrate Veikkaus’ 75th anniversary. 
The most significant changes to the other cost items included 
investments in the accessibility and service reliability of the 
gaming system, and sales network prominence. 

Nearly 1.8 million registered customers 
and a new Veikkaus Points service

Registered gaming amounted to 65.1 percent of Veikkaus’ 
total sales during the year under review (3.4 percentage 
points). Registered gaming provides our customers with 
better services, as well as with tools for monitoring and 
controlling their overall gaming. In addition, by registering, 
the players can be sure that the prizes are paid directly to 
their game accounts. 

The number of Veikkaus’ registered customers went up to 
nearly 1.8 million. A total of over 167,000 Finns registered 
as Veikkaus loyal customers in 2015. People’s willingness 
to register was boosted not only by digital gaming op-
portunities but also by our broad-ranging loyal customer 
benefits and services; marketing campaigns promoting 
the Loyal Customer Programme; large jackpots in Lotto 
and Eurojackpot; as well as the Neighbours game that is 
only accessible to registered players. 

Veikkaus Card is the third most popular loyal customer 
card in Finland, right after K-Plussa card and S-Etukortti 
card, by the large Finnish trade chains, the S Group and 
Kesko. According to a brand survey by the Finnish market 
research house Taloustutkimus, consumers’ esteem for 
Veikkaus Card grew significantly in the past year. Measured 
against the Customer Satisfaction Index, Veikkaus Card 
ranked first together with S-Etukortti card.  

In August, we opened a new Veikkaus Points service, 
open to all our loyal customers. Veikkaus Points is based 
on the idea of offering added benefits to our customers 
and introducing Veikkaus’ products, services, responsibility 
themes, and Veikkaus’ other activities through gamificati-
on. By the end of the year, as many as 91,000 customers 
had already joined Veikkaus Points, and they had taken 
part in 3.2 million activities in the service. 

Continued digital service development in 
the sales channels 
According to its strategy, Veikkaus aims at growth 
especially in the digital channels but continues the 
long-term development of its retailer network at the 
same time. The retail channel accounted for 56.7% of 
the turnover, and the digital channel for 43.3%.  

Veikkaus.fi, which is one of Finland’s largest webstores, 
continued to grow in terms of sales (+14.9%). 
Veikkaus.fi had an average of 474,000 buying custo-
mers a week (+14.2%) with a total of over 1.1 million 
customers in the whole year. Veikkaus’ webstore is 
being developed towards targeted and automatic ser-
vice, step by step. Our goal is to serve all our customers 
by offering them an extensive range of products and 
more personalized service. 
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Veikkaus bought the key parts of the webstore back 
end systems of its present internet gaming system in 
February from the game system provider IGT. The goal 
was to make the back end system services part of our 
own, continually developed, entity. During the year under 
review, we focused especially on enhancing skills related 
to game system architecture and development, preparing 
for the management of the internet gaming system. 

In retail sales (EUR 1,188.3 million, +1.6%), the games 
to gain most popularity were Eurojackpot, Fixed Odds 
Betting, and instant tickets. The number of retail outlets 
was increased to 3,892 (+82). Points of sale were ad-
ded especially to units of growing customer flows in the 
grocery stores. 

Veikkaus launched an extensive research project on the 
reform of the retail sales, with the objective of attaining 
faster sales transactions and developing the digita-
lisation of customer data. In the year under review, we 
invested in closer cooperation with the trade chains and 
increasing the number of Express checkout desks and 
digital displays in the points of sale. Communications 
and training targeted at Veikkaus’ game sales clerks 
were boosted especially through the sales staff’s Face-
book group, which has 5,500 active members. 

Veikkaus drafted new marketing guidelines for the 
points of sale following a banning letter from the 
National Police Board in June and a ban concerning oral 
marketing, which was ordered to continue in September. 
The ban in question concerned the sales clerks’ oral 

marketing while encountering customers who did not 
show an interest towards Veikkaus games or services. 
Veikkaus’ marketing materials were reduced from the 
checkout counters and info desks of supermarkets. 
These measures would seem to affect the development 
of retail sales in a negative way. 
 
Eurojackpot, eInstants, and Fixed Odds 
Betting successful in 2015; Lotto’s 
turnover took an upward turn

Veikkaus games are divided into three categories on the 
basis of their characteristics: jackpot games, daily games, 
and sports games. In 2015 the turnover went up in all of 
the game groups. The games to grow most in popularity 
were the multinational Eurojackpot, Fixed Odds Betting, 
and the digital games on the web service veikkaus.fi, such 
as eInstants and eBingo.

The Jackpot Games include Lotto, Viking Lotto, Joker, and 
Eurojackpot. The turnover of this games group was EUR 
843.1 million (+8.4%). 

Finland’s favourite lottery game Lotto posted a turnover 
of EUR 436.7 million (+1.3%). In February, we had the 
chance to celebrate a historic Lotto jackpot. The jackpot 
was record-high as such, amounting to EUR 27.8 million, 
but as the Double-Up number was found in the same 
entry, the amount divided between the winners went up 
to EUR 27.8 million. The money was shared between two 
syndicates of ten people. Thus, Finland had twenty new 
Lotto millionaires at once, which is a unique incident in 
Lotto’s history of over forty years. On the record round, 
up to 1.5 million people played Lotto.  

In the year under review, Eurojackpot established its posi-
tion as one of Finns’ favourite games, reaching a turnover 
of EUR 222.9 million (+38.8%). In May, the largest possible 
jackpot, EUR 90 million, was available for the first time in 
Eurojackpot. On the record rounds, over one million Finns 
took part in the game. Finns play Eurojackpot most when 
considered per capita. The game has players from a total 
of 17 European countries.

Joker was revised in June. We introduced new prize tiers 
and, in addition, a voluntary Double-Up feature. The players 
welcomed the revision, and up to 40% of Joker lines were 
played using the Double-Up feature by the end of the 
year. Viking Lotto, in turn, was reformed in September. We 
made the jackpots and Lucky Number jackpots larger by 
channelling a bigger share of the game turnover to these 
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prize tiers. This way, Viking Lotto received bigger and 
faster growing jackpots. In November, we also launched 
the Double-Up feature in Viking Lotto. 

The Daily Games group covers Keno, Neighbours, 
scratchcards, and the digital games eInstants, eBingo, 
Syke, and Pore. This game group showed the fastest 
growth, attaining a turnover of EUR 803.3 million 
(+6.5%). 

Keno, the most popular game in this game group, had 
a turnover of EUR 384.8 million (-2.4%).  Keno’s game 
packages were revised in November, and further reforms 
will be introduced in spring 2016. 

Out of the daily games, the eInstants showed the strongest 
growth, reaching a turnover of EUR 155.9 million (+30.6%). 
The sales (EUR 81.6 million) and number of customers of 
eBingo, which had been reformed in the previous winter, 
also continued to grow. In 2015, especially mobile playing 
of the eInstants and eBingo increased strongly. In November 
we launched the Hit Instant, which is unique even within 
the global framework. This game was developed in close 
cooperation with the Finnish music industry, experimenting 
with a completely new source of income for digital music. 

The Neighbours game, which had been launched the year be-
fore, gained more customers and increased its turnover (EUR 
26.3 million) steadily in 2015. However, the game has not 
developed as expected and it will be revised in spring 2016. 
The turnover of scratchcards went up to EUR 143.6 mil-
lion (+3.5%). Mega Instant, launched in March, is a Nordic 
scratchcard sold in Finland, Norway, and Denmark. This 

instant ticket offers Finns a chance to win one million 
euros by buying a scratchcard. The first one million euro 
prize was landed by a player in Central Finland in April. 

To celebrate Veikkaus’ 75th anniversary, we organized a 
competition in cooperation with the Finnish Pelit [Games] 
magazine. In the competition, Finnish players were offered 
the chance to design an eInstant. We received a total 
of 240 proposals. The winning proposal was made by 
Hemmo Kauppinen, a man from Kajaani, north-eastern 
Finland. Veikkaus will continue to develop the winner’s 
proposal, a game with the theme of ice fishing. It will be 
launched in 2016. 

The Sports Games attained a turnover of EUR 448.9 
million (+4.9%). This level of sales can be considered 

good, since the previous year’s sales were boosted 
significantly by, e.g., the Sochi Winter Olympics and the 
FIFA World Cup. The game to post the highest turn-
over figures was the betting game Fixed Odds Bet-
ting, which had been reformed in the previous year. It 
reached a turnover of EUR 234.5 million (+8.2%).

Football Pools, Veikkaus’ oldest game with the longest 
tradition was overhauled in August. The game’s payout 
percentage was raised to 65, following which the jack-
pot prize shares were doubled. The revision of the game 
terms according to customers’ wishes gave a good 
boost to Football Pools sales. By the end of the year, 
Football Pools saw an increase in the number of players 
of ca. 16% and the turnover by 8.5% as compared with 
the previous year. 
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Live Betting was further automatized, and a new, more 
versatile, interface was introduced at the end of the year. 
The number of betting objects was increased significant-
ly: during the year under review, there were a total of 
7,000 events available in Live Betting, with a total of ca. 
160,000 individual betting objects.

Research and product development  

In accordance with its strategy, Veikkaus invests in long-
term active development in order to create outstanding 
customer experiences. We spent a total of EUR 12.9 million 
(+33.0%) on research and product development during 
the year under review.

Veikkaus’ product development focused on the develop-
ment of digital business. Improving the web store and the 
games and services provided on the web were among the 
central product development investments that affected 
the financial result of the year under review.

Responsibility communications and 
 training on how to preserve the joy  
of gaming 

Veikkaus’ objective is to promote responsible gaming and 
attain sustainable growth. We pay special attention to 
high-standard consumer protection and the prevention of 
gambling addiction. We monitor gaming continuously from 
the perspective of responsibility and aim to create the best 
possible operating models for gaming management. The 
promotion of social responsibility and responsible gaming 

measures cost Veikkaus a total of EUR 7.2 million during 
the year under review.

The National Institute for Health and Welfare THL pub-
lished the results of a research concerning Finnish gaming 
in December. The research is carried out every four years. 
According to THL’s report, 3.3 percent of Finns, i.e. some 
124,000 people are estimated to suffer from problem 
gambling. In 2011, the respective share was 2.7%. The 
Finnish gaming operators consider the results to be alarm-
ing. Based on the report, we are currently evaluating how 
gambling problems could be prevented more efficiently in 
a closer cooperation between all the operators and the 
authorities. As legal operators of games, Veikkaus, RAY, and 
Fintoto are specifically tasked to channel gaming towards 
safe and strictly regulated domestic games. 

According to THL’s estimate, Veikkaus games do not rank 
at the top of the list when the occurrence of gambling 
problems is considered in terms of game types. However, 
Veikkaus’ daily games with high event frequency and bet-
ting games do come up in the problem gambling statistics. 
The research shows that players of Veikkaus lotto games 
have the least gambling problems. 

During the year under review, Veikkaus invested especially 
in responsibility communications. We had a prominent 
media campaign for preserving the joy of gaming, themed 
“With Veikkaus, you’ll play responsibly”. A responsible 
gaming guide for customers was distributed to the points 
of sale, and the Internet service for the self-control of 
gaming was revised. We raised the game sales clerks’ 

responsibility awareness with new training videos. The 
staff was offered a new web course on responsibility, which 
every person working at Veikkaus has to take.

Veikkaus also made revisions to the way it shares infor-
mation about the age limit of gaming. The age limit is 
communicated by using the 18+ Play Responsibly label. 
Implementing the age limit of gaming is a significant way 
of preventing gambling problems. Veikkaus makes sure, 
for its part, that the game sales clerks do not sell games 
to minors and that people under 18 cannot register into 
veikkaus.fi. 

Veikkaus has been working for the benefit of Finnish 
society for 75 years, raising funds for the common good. 
The Association for Finnish Work granted Veikkaus the 
right to use the Social Enterprise label. The decision to 
grant the label was motivated especially by the way in 
which Veikkaus has managed to combine business and 
social objectives successfully. Veikkaus was also granted 
the right to use the Avainlippu [Key Flag] label with its 
gaming services as a proof of Finnish work.  

According to external surveys, the esteem for Veikkaus’ 
brand has increased significantly. In the Brand Valuation 
Survey 2015, published in September, Veikkaus ranked 
104th, improving its rank by over 200 positions as com-
pared with the previous year. We believe that the improve-
ment was due to our target-oriented work for the customer 
promise ”Joy for Life”. In addition to highlighting the ex-
citement, dreams, and winnings brought by the games, 
the promise also covers the way in which all our profits 
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are used for the benefit of Finns, as well as responsible 
gaming that helps to preserve the joy of gaming.

Personnel

At the end of the year under review, Veikkaus had 350 
employees (+11), 87% of whom were salaried full-time 
employees and 13% of whom worked part-time. The ma-
jority of the personnel (94%) had permanent employment 
contracts. Women represented 49% and men 51% of the 
personnel. In 2015, 35 new employees were hired and 
24 employees left the company. The average incoming 
turnover was 10.0% during the year under review (2014: 
6.0%) and departing turnover 6.9% (2014: 6.3%). The 
average turnover was 8.4%.

Veikkaus supports the personnel’s wellbeing in many ways. 
Employees are supported by, e.g., comprehensive occupa-
tional healthcare, industrial safety, and activities to promote 
personnel’s working capacity. Veikkaus also employs an 
early intervention system. In 2015, the staff development 
centred on training that supports the strategic focuses, as 
well as on working to improve the digital operating culture. 

We carry out a personnel survey at Veikkaus every year. The 
results of the 2015 survey show that Veikkaus’ results rank 
clearly above the general norm, when compared against 
the Finnish norm for experts 2015. The PeoplePower in-
dex, which measures the staff’s general satisfaction, was 
76.4 and the PeoplePower classification AAA (excellent). 
Just 6% of all the companies taking the Corporate Spirit 
personnel survey reach the highest AAA class. 

All the indexes in the personnel survey were clearly above 
the norm, especially the engagement index, which meas-
ures the employees’ engagement to their workplace. Fur-
ther, the way the staff experienced occupational wellbeing 
and the employer’s image; corporate-level management 
culture, the prerequisites related to the employees’ work, 
and the efficiency and flexibility of the units, were among 
the indexes that were clearly above the norm. There were 
some slight differences between the different units in 
terms of employee satisfaction. 

Veikkaus’ compensation schedule covers the entire per-
sonnel, and its different forms are closely connected to 
the achievement of the company’s strategic goals.

For the period between 2014 and 2017, ten bench-
marks linked to the company objectives have been set for 
Veikkaus. These benchmarks are used for the quarterly 
evaluation of the implementation of the corporate strategy. 

In 2015 Veikkaus’ personnel expenses totalled EUR 27.5 
million (-1.4%). Salaries accounted for EUR 22.3 million 
(+0.9%), whereas the remaining EUR 5.5 million (+9.9%) 
covered pension expenses and indirect personnel costs. 
The increase in salary expenses was caused by the re-
cruitments related to the adoption of the web gaming 
system in particular.

Control and risk management

In accordance with the Lotteries Act (1047/2001), Veik-
kaus’ lottery, pools, and betting operations are supervised 

by the National Police Board working under the Ministry 
of the Interior.

Risk management at Veikkaus is part of the internal control. 
Veikkaus estimates that the most significant risks affecting 
the achievement of the objectives in 2016 include the 
development of consumer demand, and the effects of the 
regulation of the gaming system. In the short term, the 
prize payout to players may vary considerably. Veikkaus 
considers it important that its product and service devel-
opment could be secured during the transition period on 
the way to the merger of the gaming operators. 

A more detailed review of control and risk management is 
available in the Corporate Governance Statement 2015. 
 

Developing the Finnish gaming system

The Ministerial Committee on Economic Policy decided in 
September that the Finnish gaming operators Veikkaus, 
Finland’s Slot Machine Association, and Fintoto should be 
merged into a single new gaming company. The objective 
is to strengthen the Finnish gaming monopoly. 

The merger will be organized according to a memorandum 
of understanding drafted in cooperation between the 
gaming operators, the authorities, and beneficiary groups. 
In November an interim integration company FRV Oy was 
established to prepare the merger. Later, in the second 
phase of the merger, a new gaming company entirely 
owned by the State will be founded. The Government 
Ownership Steering Department is in charge of the merger 
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in practice, in cooperation with the gaming operators. The 
Ministry of the Interior coordinates the project and pre-
pares the necessary legislation. The project is supervised 
by Parliament. 

Veikkaus regards the merger of the Finnish gaming op-
erators as a sensible and logical reform. It will provide an 
explicit basis for ensuring the efficiency and competiveness 
of the Finnish gaming system. The new gaming company 
will have the necessary resources for a versatile portfolio 
of games and services, first-class customer service, and 
efficient prevention of gambling problems.  

Future prospects

Veikkaus is committed to continuous and long-term de-
velopment, reinforcing responsible operations, and cost- 
efficiency. The development of the domestic purchasing 
power and changes in regulation continue to pose signif-
icant challenges to our operations. 

Finland is a pioneer in digital gaming in Europe. As gaming 
is moving over to digital channels more often and the 
pace of gaming is growing, products and services need 
to be reformed faster. Customer analytics and dialogue 
become more and more important and questions related 
to information security gain focus in business operations. 

The planning for the merger of the gaming operators will 
take place primarily in 2016. During the transition period, 
we need to secure product and service development and 
make sure that the operations are continued. In prepar-

ing for the new gaming company, Veikkaus foregrounds 
even better customer service, the prevention of gambling 
problems, and flexible product and service development. 
In addition, it is important to safeguard the position of the 
NGOs and beneficiaries that are supported with gaming 
proceeds in a way that secures their equal treatment. 
Veikkaus estimates that the merger could take place 
and the new gaming company could start its operations 
during 2017. 

Veikkaus aims at a moderate improvement of its financial 
result in 2016. Veikkaus’ projected profit in the 2016 
State Budget is EUR 537.4 million, of which EUR 520.9 
million have been earmarked for return to the State. The 
company will also return EUR 16.5 million at the minimum 

in undistributed prize funds from previous years to the 
Ministry of Education and Culture. 

Board of Directors’ proposal for the 
distribution of profits

Veikkaus’ Board of Directors proposes that EUR 
515,619,000.00 of the company’s total profit of EUR 
537,131,664.80 for the financial year 2015 be returned 
to the Ministry of Education and Culture, to be distributed 
to Finnish art, sports, science, and youth work, and that 
EUR 21,512,664.80 be transferred to the Undistributed 
Prizes Fund. 

We can calculate that the direct economic value gener-
ated by Veikkaus to society amounted to a total of EUR 
671.7 million. In addition to the return to the State of EUR 
515.6 million, Veikkaus paid a total of EUR 25.5 million of 
undistributed prize funds from the previous years to the 
Ministry of Education and Culture. Further, the company 
also paid EUR 107.2 million to the State in lottery tax, 
and EUR 23.4 million in VAT. Veikkaus is not VAT liable, 
so we cannot deduct the VAT included in our purchases 
of goods and services. 

Arts, sports, science 
and youthwork 26%Prize payout 

58%

Operating 
costs 8%

Retail 
commissions 4%

Lottery tax 5%

Breakdown of one Veikkaus euro
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Statement of comprehensive income

Statement of comprehensive income

 Note 2015 2014

Turnover 1 2,095,305,931.05 1,959,489,093.94

Other operating income 3 292,081.37 1,209,881.73

Prizes 1,210,184,155.41 1,096,438,509.70

Lottery tax 107,177,567.10 104,181,031.39

Raw materials and services

Retail commissions 79,226,096.88 78,045,903.39

Payments to authorities and 
supervision fees

5,501,469.68 4,879,673.14

Playslips and lottery tickets 5,502,063.43 5,834,891.79

Drawing expenses and result 
information

9,710,292.43 9,776,685.84

Game event cooperation 3,730,944.90 3,896,514.58

Product advertising 18,834,863.84 18,330,220.91

Data communications 510,155.98 472,287.17

123,015,887.14 121,236,176.82

Expenses from employee benefits 

Salaries and compensations 22,305,529.63 22,107,329.54

Pension expenses 4,015,115.35 4,044,412.66

Other indirect personnel expenses 1,214,202.74 1,759,718.94

27,534,847.72 27,911,461.14

Operating profit 536,697,397.22 519,238,768.11

Financial income and expenses

Financial income 8 435,268.95 1,131,436.52

Financial expenses 8 1,001.37 1,556.95

434,267.58 1,129,879.57

Profit for the financial year 537,131,664.80 520,368,647.68

 Note 2015 2014

Services purchased 5 34,189,095.60 34,893,367.95

Depreciation and write-down 4, 9, 10 17,203,432.50 24,433,036.93

Other operating expenses 6 39,595,629.73 32,366,623.63

Earnings per share *

Number of shares 498 498

Earnings per share 1,078,577.64 1,044,916.96

*Earnings per share were calculated by dividing the profit for the financial year by the number of shares.  
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Balance sheet

Balance sheet

 Note 2015 2014

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Tangible assets 9 30,816,604.76 30,299,729.07

Intangible assets 10 17,556,761.47 20,161,158.44

Investments held for sale 12 486,147.26 481,647.26

Other long-term receivables 12 12,185,291.00 12,185,291.00

Current assets

Advance payments 400,927,415.62 386,874,381.55

Receivables 13 24,520,166.44 15,451,045.14

Liquid assets and other short-term 
investments

14 251,831,172.51 269,821,703.73

Total assets 738,323,559.06 735,274,956.19

 Note 2015 2014

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND 
LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 15 445,698.01 445,698.01

Undistributed prize funds 15 59,450,000.00 82,100,000.00

Profit for the financial year 537,131,664.80 520,368,647.68

Total shareholders' equity 597,027,362.81 602,914,345.69

Liabilities

Long-term liabilities

Liabilities from employee benefits 17 1,676,000.00 1,724,000.00

Other long-term liabilities 17 143,198.00 150,757.00

Short-term liabilities

Advances for multi-week 
subscriptions

16 20,284,138.41 15,483,342.36

Trade payable 16 13,345,742.75 11,835,749.88

Winnings payable 16 34,503,536.55 48,941,125.01

Settlement debt to the State 16 22,274,753.31 20,543,839.67

Accruals and deferred income 16 31,938,426.73 24,533,443.40

Other short-term liabilities 16 17,130,400.50 9,148,353.18

Total shareholders’ equity 
and liabilities 738,323,559.06 735,274,956.19
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Cash flow statement

Cash flow statement

 EUR thousand Note 2015 2014

Cash flow from business 
operations

Operating profit 536,697 519,239

Adjustments

Business transactions involving no 
payment

17,045 24,067

Change in working capital

Change in non-interest-bearing 
receivables

-9,069 13,120

Change in trade and other payables 8,936 20,130

Dividends received 4 4

Interest received 431 1,128

Interest paid -1 -2

Net cash flow from business 
operations 544,043 577,685

Cash flow from investments

Investments in tangible and 
intangible assets

11 -15,237 -16,759

Sale of tangible and intangible assets 275 744

Net cash flow from investments -14,962 -16,015

Cash flow from financing

Returned to the Ministry of 
Education and Culture

-557,072 -554,205

Net cash flow from financing -557,072 -554,205

 EUR thousand Note 2015 2014

Change in liquid funds and other 
short-term investments -17,991 7,466

Liquid assets and other short-term 
investments at the beginning of the 
financial year

269,822 262,356

Liquid assets and other short-
term investments at the end of 
the financial year

251,831 269,822
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Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity    

Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

EUR thousand Share capital
Undistributed 

prize funds
Retained 
earnings

Total 
shareholders' 

equity

Shareholders' equity  
31 Dec 2013 446 116,600 506,347 623,393

Return to the Ministry of 
Education and Culture

-517,547

Transfer to the 
undistributed prizes' fund

-11,200 11,200

Additional return to the 
Ministry of Education 
and Culture

-23,300

Profit for the financial year  520,369

Shareholders' equity  
31 Dec 2014 446 82,100 520,369 602,914

Return to the Ministry of 
Education and Culture

-517,519

Transfer from the undistrib-
uted prizes' fund

2,850 -2,850

Additional return to the 
Ministry of Education 
and Culture

-25,500

Profit for the financial year  537,132

Shareholders' equity  
31 Dec 2015 446 59,450 537,132 597,027
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Corporate profile
 
Veikkaus Oy is a Finnish lottery domiciled in the City of 
Vantaa. Veikkaus is a State-owned, public limited company 
that operates in the administrative sector of the Finnish 
Ministry of Education and Culture. The company’s operations 
are regulated in accordance with the Limited Companies 
Act and the Lotteries Act, according to which Veikkaus’ 
task is to operate lotteries, and pools and betting games 
in such a manner that the legal protection of those enga-
ging in gaming activities is guaranteed, abuse and criminal 
activity are prevented, and the social problems associated 
with gaming are reduced. Veikkaus’ gaming operations are 
supervised by the National Police Board working under the 
Ministry of the Interior.

The Board of Directors of Veikkaus Oy approved these 
financial statements for publication in its meeting of 3 
February 2016. According to the Limited Liability Com-
panies Act, the owner has the right to approve or reject 
or decide to make changes to the financial statements at 
the General Meeting following their publication.

Basis of presentation 

The financial statements were prepared in accordance 
with the IFRS standards effective on 31 December 2015. 
The IFRS standards refer to the international accounting 
standards accepted for use within the EU.

The notes to the financial statements also comply with the 
requirements of the Finnish Accounting Act and Limited 
Liability Companies Act, supplementing the IFRS standards.

Since 1 January 2015 the new and revised IAS and IFRS 
standards do not affect Veikkaus’ financial statements.

General remarks

The figures in the financial statements, except for the 
balance sheet and comprehensive income statement, are 
presented in thousands of euros and, unless otherwise 
indicated in the accounting principles below, are based 
on the original acquisition costs.

Whilst preparing financial statements in accordance with 
the international accounting standards, it is necessary 
to make estimates and assumptions about the future. 
These estimates have an effect on the asset and liability 
figures in the balance sheet, as well as on the net profits 
and losses for the financial year. The most important 
estimates in Veikkaus’ financial statements concern the 
depreciation periods of fixed assets and the assumptions 
used for calculating pension-based liabilities. The figures 
realized may therefore deviate from these estimates. 
Judgement must also be exercised in the application of 
accounting principles.

Accounting principles

Items in foreign currency

Veikkaus’ functional currency is the euro. Foreign currency 
business transactions have been recorded in euros using 
the prevailing exchange rate on the transaction date. 
Receivables and liabilities have been translated into the 
functional currency using the prevailing rate on the finan-
cial statement date. Profits and losses arising from foreign 
currency transactions and the translation of receivables 
and liabilities have been recorded through profit and loss. 
 
The translation profits and losses of business operations 
are included in the respective items above the operating 
profit.

Property, plant, and equipment

Property, plant and equipment have been measured at their 
original acquisition cost less the accumulated depreciations 
in the balance sheet.  An asset’s subsequent expenses are 
capitalised when they increase future financial benefit. 
Other expenses, such as standard maintenance and repair, 
are recorded as costs in the income statement on the date 
of occurrence. Any expenses incurred from the new eIns-
tants are recorded as expenses on the date of occurrence.

Depreciation periods for property, plant and 
equipment (years):
• Buildings and structures 25

Accounting principles 2015
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If an impairment loss is recognized in a given period, 
implications of whether the impairment loss could be 
revoked are also evaluated in the continuation and, if 
necessary, the revocation is performed on the basis of 
respective impairment test calculations, measured at 
the value which the asset would have after deprecia-
tions if the impairment loss had not been recorded in 
the first place.

Veikkaus does not have such balance-sheet items that 
would give reason to perform annual impairment tests.

• Basic apartment renovations 5
• Property fixtures, machinery and equipment 5
• Other machinery and equipment 4
• IT equipment 4
Depreciation periods for intangible assets (years):
• IT software and capitalised development costs 4                     

The profits and losses resulting from the sale or surrender 
of property, plant and equipment are recorded as other 
operating income and expenses in the comprehensive 
income statement. The balance sheet values of property, 
plant and equipment are examined in the financial state-
ments to detect possible impairment. 

Veikkaus evaluates, on each date of the financial state-
ments, whether there are implications towards a given 
value of an asset being possibly impaired. If necessary, an 
impairment test is performed, with the possible outcome 
that an impairment loss is recognized.

Research and development

Research costs are recorded as expenses for the financial 
year during which they occurred. Expenses related to the 
development of new products, offerings, and processes 
are capitalised if the intangible asset resulting from the 
development work will generate future financial benefit. 
Further, any costs incurred by development must be re-
liably definable.

Loyal Customer Programme

Veikkaus has a Loyal Customer Programme in place enab-
ling customer registration. The Loyal Customer Programme 
does not contain any benefits based on purchases. Thus, 
Veikkaus’ Loyal Customer Programme does not comply 
with the IFRS standard IFRIC Interpretation 13 Customer 
loyalty programmes.

Leases

In accordance with the rental agreements made by Veikka-
us, the lessor retains the risks and benefits of ownership, 
and payments made under operating leases are charged 
to the comprehensive income statement on straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease.

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets are divided into different categories at 
the time of acquisition. The categorization depends on 
the purpose the financial asset has been acquired for. 

The sales and purchases of financial assets are recorded 
on the transaction date.

Long-term investments held for sale include stocks, shares 
and marketable interest instruments. They are measured at 
fair value and the changes in value and recorded as other 
items of the comprehensive income statement. Untraded 
stocks are measured at acquisition cost, when their fair 
value cannot be defined reliably.

Loans and other receivables include sales and other recei-
vables, as well as bank deposits. The difference between 
retailers’ sales and retail commissions and the prizes they 
pay out is recorded under sales receivables.

The loans and other receivables group, short-term in-
vestments held for sale, and financial liabilities have short 
maturity periods and their fair values are therefore consi-
dered to correspond to their book value. 

Short-term liabilities with no interest included on the 
financial liabilities are recorded at fair value in the finan-
cial statements. At a later date, they are recorded into 
periodical acquisition costs by applying the effective 
interest method.

Advance payments to the Ministry of 
Education and Culture 

Veikkaus makes quarterly advance payments on its full-
year result to its owner. The advance payments are pre-
sented in the current assets in the balance sheet. Following 

Accounting principles
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a decision by the General Meeting, the result for the 
financial year is charged from the shareholders’ equity.  

Post-employment benefits

In accordance with the IFRS, pension schemes are classified 
as either defined contribution or defined benefit plans. 
Defined contribution schemes include those in which Veik-
kaus pays fixed amounts to a pension company without 
any obligation to make additional payments even if the 
fund lacks sufficient assets to pay the pensions. Payments 
made to defined contribution schemes are recorded as 
pension expenses in the comprehensive income statement. 
Payments made to the TyEL pension insurance scheme 
are regarded as payments to a defined contribution plan.

The remaining pension schemes are defined benefit plans. 
For them, a liability based on certain assumptions is recor-
ded in the balance sheet, illustrating the future pensions 
to be paid on the basis of the scheme. The pension cost 
recorded in the income statement illustrates, e.g., the 
increase in liabilities arising from the work performed by 
personnel during the financial year.

Items recorded from defined benefit schemes are based 
on actuarial calculations. These calculations are made 
on the basis of assumptions concerning, for example, 
the termination of employment of personnel belonging 
to the pension scheme before the age of retirement; 
the future level of salaries and the discount rate used in 
the calculations. The costs based on service during the 
financial period and the net interest of the net defined 

benefit liability are recorded through profit and loss and 
presented in the liabilities from employee benefits. The 
items incurred by the restatement of the net defined 
benefit liability (or asset) are recorded as other items in 
the comprehensive income statement. 

Long-term employee benefits

A one-time payment equivalent to a month’s gross sa-
lary is paid as a bonus when an employee has been in 
the company’s employ for 30, 35, 40, and 45 years. The 
compensation liability has been calculated on the basis of 
when the employees joined the company, by discounting 
the compensation liability realized at the end of each year 
to the present. Liabilities based on long-term employee 
benefits are included in the other long-term liabilities in 
the balance sheet.

Other short-term liabilities - the prize fund  

The prize fund is not an actual fund, but the company’s 
liability to players. In prize distribution, both the cents 
accumulated through the rounding of prize sums and the 
undistributed share of the total prizes of games, as deter-
mined in the gaming licence, are immediately transferred 
to the prize fund. After the expiry of the claiming period of 
one year, the prizes left unclaimed in the different games 
are transferred to the fund. The assets in the prize fund 
are used for additional prize distributions in the games in 
question. In accordance with Veikkaus’ gaming licence, the 
company is obliged to distribute the prize sums in their 
entirety to players.

Turnover

The turnover from game sales is divided according to the 
draw date.

The draws take place either weekly or daily.

Other operating income and expenses

Other operating income includes indemnifications, profit 
from the sale of assets, and profits from operations other 
than those related to the company’s actual business ope-
rations, including income from leasing and the messaging 
service.

Other operating expenses include losses from the sale of 
assets and expenses related to actual business operations.

Prizes

The prizes, as determined in the rules of play, are entered 
as turnover in the comprehensive income statement. In 
accordance with Veikkaus’ gaming licence, both unclaimed 
prizes from the previous year and profit from the rounding 
of prize sums shall be paid out on later rounds of the games 
in question, during the following calendar year at the latest.

Raw materials and services

The retail commissions consist of compensations paid to 
retailers on the basis of their game sales. The commission 
percentages vary by game.

Accounting principles
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The payments to authorities and supervision fees include 
game supervision fees, expenses incurred from problem 
gambling research and monitoring, and the expenses of 
the Finnish Gambling helpline Peluuri. 

Expenses incurred from the printing of lottery tickets, 
playslips and receipt rolls, as well as those associated 
with the Veikkaus Card, are recorded as expenses on the 
acquisition date.

Draw and result information expenses include costs re-
lated to TV cooperation agreements and other expenses 
associated with the publishing of results.

Game event cooperation covers the expenses arising from 
the right to use information about the event in question. 
These expenses may be contractual commitments or 
they may be entirely determined according to the games’ 
round-specific or annual turnover.

The product advertising expenses include media space 
purchases related to product advertising, as well as pro-
duction and planning expenses.

Operating profit

Operating profit or loss consists of the turnover and other 
income from business operations, less the prizes paid out 
and the lottery tax, expenses associated with raw material 
and services, employment benefits, purchase of services, 
as well as depreciations and possible impairment losses.

Taxes

The lottery tax is 12% of the accounted sum that is allo-
cated to a calendar month from the sales of games and 
lottery tickets less the prizes recorded as expenses on 
the basis of these tickets. The funds that are withdrawn 
from or paid into the prize fund during the calendar month 
are added to or subtracted from the aforementioned sum.

In accordance with Section 59 of the Value Added Tax Act, 
Veikkaus is not VAT liable. The company’s expenses and 
investments include VAT at the current rate. 

In accordance with Section 21 of the Income Tax Act, 
Veikkaus is only liable to pay income tax on income that is 
not referred to as business income in the Lottery Tax Act. 
The financial statements of Veikkaus Oy do not contain 
any income that is subject to income tax.

Application of new or revised standards 
and interpretations effective in the 
upcoming financial years

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  
(effective from 1 January 2018 or financial periods starting 
thereafter). The new standard includes five-step guidelines 
on the recording of revenue from contracts with customers, 
replacing the current IAS 18 and IAS 11 standards and the 
related interpretations. Recording the revenue can be done 
gradually or at a given point of time, and the core criterion 
is the transfer of the control. The standard also increases 
the number of the notes to be presented.  

IFRS 9 Financial instruments and the amendments made to 
it (effective from 1 January 2018 or financial periods star-
ting thereafter). The new standard will replace the current 
standard IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. The IFRS 9 will change the categorization 
and measurement of financial instruments, and it includes 
a new credit-loss based model for the assessment of the 
depreciation of financial instruments.  

The classification and measurement of financial liabilities 
correspond largely to the requirements of the current IAS 
39. As regards hedge accounting, there are still three types 
of it. Hedge accounting can cover more risk positions than 
before, and the hedge accounting principles have been 
harmonised with risk management. 

Veikkaus will evaluate the possible effects of the new 
standards during the next financial period. 

According to the company’s evaluation, other changes to 
the standard that have been published will not affect the 
financial statements.

Accounting principles
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Notes to the financial statements 

1.Turnover by games and game groups  2. Development of financial result 2011–2015

3. Other operating income  

Notes to the financial statements

EUR thousand 2015
% of

turnover 2014
% of

turnover 

Lotto 436,732 20.8 431,131 22.0

Viking Lotto 75,488 3.6 84,706 4.3

Eurojackpot 222,864 10.6 160,514 8.2

Joker 108,012 5.2 101,216 5.2

Total jackpot games 843,097 40.2 777,566 39.7

Keno 384,762 18.4 394,234 20.1

Neighbours 26,317 1.3 15,497 0.8

Scratch tickets 143,553 6.9 138,752 7.1

Syke 4,853 0.2 5,667 0.3

Pore 6,375 0.3 8,908 0.5

eInstants 155,865 7.4 119,347 6.1

eBingo 81,613 3.9 71,737 3.7

Total daily games 803,338 38.3 754,143 38.5

Fixed Odds Betting 234,472 11.2 216,615 11.1

Result Odds Betting 36,058 1.7 40,245 2.1

Multibet 66,031 3.2 67,112 3.4

Winner Odds Betting 9,338 0.4 10,340 0.5

Football Pools 69,209 3.3 63,770 3.3

MultiPools 7 0.0 79 0.0

Live Winner Odds Betting 33,755 1.6 29,619 1.5

Total sports games 448,870 21.4 427,780 21.8

Total game groups 2,095,306 100.0 1,959,489 100.0

EUR thousand 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Turnover 2,095,306 1,959,489 1,858,365 1,775,812 1,792,700

Game margin 885,122 863,051 835,872 825,808 831,661

% of turnover 42.2 % 44.0 % 45.0 % 46.5 % 46.4 %

Operating profit 536,697 519,239 505,173 497,922 510,694

% of turnover 25.6 % 26.5 % 27.2 % 28.0 % 28.5 %

Result before 
appropriations 537,132 520,369 506,347 500,803 514,480

% of turnover 25.6 % 26.6 % 27.3 % 28.2 % 28.7 %

Result for the 
financial year 537,132 520,369 506,347 500,803 514,480

% of turnover 25.6 % 26.6 % 27.3 % 28.2 % 28.7 %

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Rental income 33 30

Messaging service income 11 15

Indemnifications 0 203

Refunds in previous financial years 57 551

Gains on the sale of fixed assets 159 126

Gains on the sale of a housing stock 0 234

Other income 31 52

Total 292 1,210

The turnovers of the games Keno, Neighbours, Syke, Pore, eBingo, Fixed Odds Betting, and Multibet played between  
28–31 Dec 2015, and the turnovers of games Result Odds Betting, Winner Odds Betting, and Live Winner Odds Bet-
ting played between  29–31 Dec 2015 are included in the 2015 turnover in accordance with their draw/result dates.  
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4. Depreciation 

5. Services purchased

7. Research and development expenses  

6. Other operating expenses  
 

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Intangible assets 12,607 20,027

Buildings and structures 1,018 1,000

Machinery and equipment 3,578 3,405

Total 17,203 24,433

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Other advertising and marketing 
expenses

12,355 7,781

Other voluntary personnel expenses 1,246 1,166

Travel expenses 851 888

Representation and negotiation 
expenses

370 341

Car expenses 321 358

Supplies and freight charges 2,739 2,973

Machinery and equipment 7,383 5,563

Real estate expenses 1,939 1,912

Maintenance and servicing of 
software

7,360 7,165

Banking expenses 3,237 3,026

Telephone expenses 444 448

Other office expenses 1,350 745

Total 39,596 32,367

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Services purchased abroad,  
IT and other

15,280 17,100

Services purchased, IT 11,662 10,441

Services purchased, other 7,247 7,352

Services purchased 34,189 34,893

EUR thousand 2015 2014

R & D expenses 13 10

R & D investments 7 5

Total 20 15

Auditors' fees included in services 
purchased

Audit 31 41

Other services 76 48

Total 107 89

Fixed assets are subject to straight-line depreciation over their economic life.
In 2015 a one-off depreciation of EUR 3.9 million was recorded on assets which were not expected to 
generate income in the future years. Lands, housing stocks, and works of art are not subject to 
depreciation. 
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8. Financial income and expenses

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Dividend income from investments 
held for sale

4 4

Interest income from investments 
held for sale

0 94

Interest income from deposit and 
bank accounts 

420 1,020

Other financial income 11 14

Total financial income 435 1,131

Interest expenses 1 2

Total financial expenses 1 2

Total 434 1,130
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9. Tangible assets and depreciation  

2015

2014

EUR thousand
Land and 

water
Buildings and 

structures
Machinery and 

equipment Other
Acquisition in 

progress Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2015 1,906 28,156 34,527 629 899 66,116

Increase 0 0 2,842 49 2,338 5,229

Decrease 0 0 -532 0 -532

Transfers between items 0 867 396 0 -1,263 0

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2015 1,906 29,023 37,232 678 1,974 70,813

EUR thousand
Land and 

water
Buildings and 

structures
Machinery and 

equipment Other
Acquisition in 

progress Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2014 1,906 28,844 31,286 629 242 62,907

Increase 0 0 745 0 3,673 4,417

Decrease 0 -688 -517 0 -3 -1,208

Transfers between items 0 0 3,013 0 -3,013 0

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2014 1,906 28,156 34,527 629 899 66,116

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan 2014 - -10,160 -25,657 - - -35,816

Depreciation for the financial year - -1,018 -3,609 - - -4,626

Accumulated depreciation on 
decreases

- 0 446 - - 446

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec 
2015 - -11,177 -28,819 - - -39,997

Carrying amount 31 Dec 2015 1,906 17,845 8,413 678 1,974 30,817

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan 2014 - -9,626 -22,611 - - -32,238

Depreciation for the financial year - -1,000 -3,405 - - -4,406

Accumulated depreciation on 
decreases

- 467 360 - - 827

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec 
2014 - -10,160 -25,657 - - -35,816

Carrying amount 31 Dec 2014 1,906 17,996 8,870 629 899 30,300
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10. Intangible assets and depreciation

EUR Thousand Software and capitalised development costs

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2015 97,393

Increase 10,003

Decrease 0

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2015 107,396

EUR Thousand Software and capitalised development costs

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2014 93,884

Increase 5,475

Decrease 1,966

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2014 97,393

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan 2015 77,232

Depreciation for the financial year 12,607

Accumulated depreciation on decreases 0

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec 2015 89,839

Carrying amount 31 Dec 2015 17,557

Carrying amount 1 Jan 2015 20,161

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan 2014 59,171

Depreciation for the financial year 20,027

Accumulated depreciation on decreases 1,966

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec 2014 77,232

Carrying amount 31 Dec 2014 20,161

Carrying amount 1 Jan 2014 34,713

2015

2014

11. Cash flow from investments and payment 
transactions in progress

EUR Thousand 2015 2014

Software 1,872 6,540

IT equipment 2,321 2,811

Office equipment 180 202

Fittings, fixtures, and 
other equipment

396 0

Real estate

Basic improvements 867 0

Machinery, equipment, 
fittings

0 867 0

Shares in housing 
cooperatives

Company cars 341 745

Works of art 49 0

Long-term receivables 5 6,869

Investments in progress 9,206 -407

Total 15,237 16,759

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 TABLE OF CONTENTS FINANCIALS GOVERNANCE

Notes to the financial statements



23

12. Investments held for sale and other 
long-term receivables    

13. Short-term receivables 

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Unlisted stock investments 486 482

Total 486 482

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Periodic interest income 94 191

Periodic cooperation agreement 
expenses

23 23

Gtech receivables 8 8

Insurance refunds 74 78

Eurojackpot draw project 519 507

Periodic licence fees 63 0

Other accrued income 12 104

Supervision expenses, 
State supervision

0 720

Total 792 1,631

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Trade receivables 13,324 10,079

Accrued income 792 1,631

Other receivables 10,404 3,742

Total 24,520 15,451

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Security Deposit, Eurojackpot 12,185 12,185

Total 12,185 12,185

The trade receivables consist of uncharged game fees from retailers. The charging period runs from Monday 
to Sunday and the amount for the previous week is charged on Wednesdays on the basis of the payment 
material. The total number of the points of sale is 3 892. Due to the nature of these trade receivables, 
there is traditionally no credit risk. On the closing date, the balance sheet values of the trade receivables do 
not deviate from their fair values.   

Investments held for sale

Key items of accrued income  

Other long-term receivables
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14. Liquid assets and other short-term investments  
  

15. Shareholders’ equity and equity management

16. Short-term liabilities 

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Cash in hand and at bank 9,331 34,733

Investments held for sale 0 16,989

Loans and receivables 242,500 218,100

Total 251,831 269,822

The investments held for sale are certificates of deposit with short maturity.  
The loans and receivables are deposits with short maturity. 
  
Principles of financial risk management 
In its business operations Veikkaus is exposed to certain financial risks of a limited scale. The principal 
financial risks are interest rate risk and CCR (credit risk). To manage these financial risks, Veikkaus has a risk 
management policy in place, approved by the Board of Directors. Exchange rate risk and liquidity risk are 
not significant due to the nature of Veikkaus’ operations.  
  
Interest rate risk  
Short-term financial investments expose Veikkaus to an interest rate risk, which is, however, of minor signi-
ficance. Income and operative cash flows are largely independent of changes in market interest rates. 
  
Credit risk  
In its investing activities, Veikkaus complies with the guidelines approved by the Board of Directors. Accor-
ding to these guidelines, investments are made by securing the capital without exchange rate risks and for 
a maximum of five years. Investment in shares is not permitted under the investment principles. 
  
The credit risk related to receivables from retailers is largely diversified, and therefore does not involve
a significant credit risk.  

The share capital is EUR 445,698.01 and there are 498 shares.
  
Undistributed prizes’ fund
The difference between the profit for the financial year and the return to the Ministry of Education and 
Culture is entered into the undistributed prizes’ fund in accordance with a decision by the General Meeting. 
The General Meeting decides how the undistributed prizes’ fund shall be used, and the Ministry of Educati-
on and Culture distributes the funds to the beneficiaries at a later date.
  
According to a decision by the Council of State, the undistributed prizes’ fund can total a maximum of EUR 
200 million.
  
On the closing date, the undistributed prizes’ fund totalled EUR 59.45 million, including EUR 11.7 million 
from 2010, EUR 44.9 million from 2011 and and EUR 2.85 million from 2014. The undistributed prizes’ 
fund includes EUR 16.5 million of additional return included in the State Budget 2016.

Winnings payable include uncashed prizes and return payments on betting games, as well as the funds 
deposited in the Internet players’ game accounts.  
  
Other short-term liabilities include, for example, prize funds. In the balance sheet of 31 Dec 2014 these 
funds totalled EUR 6.1 million. In 2015 a total of EUR 21.2 million of prize funds were accumulated and 
they were used to pay out a total of EUR 1.4 million of prizes in accordance with the Government Decree on 
Lotteries and a total of EUR 12.2 million of other prizes during the financial period. The prize funds totalled 
EUR 13.7 million in the balance sheet of 31 Dec 2015.   

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Advances for multi-week
subscriptions 20,284 15,483

Trade payable 13,346 11,836

Accruals and deferred income

Allocated personnel expenses 7,053 7,770

Accrued winnings payable 15,574 9,920

Expenses of game system 
maintenance, uninvoiced proportion

5,394 3,223

Other accruals and deferred income 3,917 3,620

Total 31,938 24,533

Winnings payable 34,504 48,941

Settlement debt to the State

Lottery tax 20,775 19,221

Withholding tax liability 592 544

Social security liability 36 34

Value-added tax 872 745

22,275 20,544

Other short-term liabilities 17,130 9,148

Total 139,477 130,486
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17. Liabilities from employee benefits

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Pension liabilities in the statement of 
comprehensive income

Defined benefit pension liabilities in the 
income statement

Costs based on service during the financial 
period

49 50

Net interest expenses 28 41

Total 77 91

Items arising from restatement -117 379

Reconciliation of the net defined benefit liability in the balance sheet

Defined benefit liability 2,942 3,594

Fair value of assets 1,266 1,870

Net defined benefit liability in balance 
sheet on 31 Dec 1,676 1,724

Net defined benefit liability on 1 Jan 1,724 1,509

Recorded in income statement 77 91

Total items arising from restatement recorded in 
the statement of comprehensive income

-117 379

Employer's contributions to the plan -8 -255

Net defined benefit liability in balance 
sheet on 31 Dec 1,676 1,724

Pension liabilities   
The defined benefit pension schemes include additional pensions that enable some of Veikkaus’ emp-
loyees to retire at an earlier age without losing part of their pension. Certain pension schemes were 
granted to employees who joined Veikkaus before 1985 and somewhat different schemes to emplo-
yees who joined before 1994.

The commitment given to the insured is recorded under liabilities in the balance sheet, while the 
insurance company’s proportion of this commitment is presented under assets.  Pensions and paid-up 
policies are pension index adjusted. The costs incurred are borne entirely by Veikkaus, because the 
insurance company has estimated its compensation at zero. 
 
In the insurance arrangement, the assets are calculated using the same discount rate as the liabilities; 
consequently, any change in the discount rate will not result in material risk. Similarly, an increase in 
life expectancy will not result in any material risk because the insurance company bears the majority of 
the impact of increase life expectancy. Meanwhile, Veikkaus is fully liable for the increase in pensions; 
for example, an increase of 0.5% in the pension index would raise the liability by 4.9%, while a decrease of 
0.5% would lower the liability by 4.6%.
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EUR thousand 2015 2014

At the beginning of the financial year 151 167

Change -8 -16

At the end of the financial year 143 151

2015 2014

Most significant actuarial assumptions

Discount rate 2.0% 1.8%

Expected future pay rise 2.3% 3.0%

Increase in pensions 1.6% 2.1%

Duration based on the weighted average of the 
defined benefit liability

11 11

Other long-term employee benefits: bonus for years of service 
  
Veikkaus grants its personnel a bonus for years of service, and this is classified as a long-term 
employee benefit.   

Liability recorded in the balance sheet  

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Changes in the net defined benefit liability in the balance sheet

Defined benefit liability on 1 Jan 3,594 3,462

Costs based on service during the financial 
period

49 50

Interest expenses 61 98

Items arising from restatement

Gains (–) / losses (+) from changes in 
population statistical assumptions

0 0

Gains (–) / losses (+) from changes in 
financial assumptions

0 0

Experience-based gains (–) / losses (+) -528 409

Benefits paid -234 -425

Defined benefit liability on 31 Dec 2,942 3,594

Changes in the fair value of the funds in the scheme

Fair value on 1 Jan 1,870 1,953

Interest income 33 57

Gain from the funds in the scheme (excluding 
items included in interest expenses/income)

-411 30

Employer's contributions to the plan 8 255

Benefits paid -234 -425

Fair value on 31 Dec 1,266 1,870

The amount the company expects to pay into 
the defined benefit plans in 2015 
(EUR thousand)

120 304

No information is available on the assets included in the plan, nor can they be allocated to various asset 
groups since the assets are held by the insurance company.
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18. Related party transactions  19. Other leasing agreements and contingent liabilities 
 

The Executive Team had six members at the end of the financial year 2014 and six members at the end of 
2014. The salaries paid include full-year salaries plus the performance-based bonuses.  

The CEO’s notice period is six months if notice is given by the company and three months if notice is given 
by the CEO. If certain criteria specified in the CEO contract are met, the CEO is entitled to a severance pay 
corresponding to six months’ salary. The CEO’s retirement age is 65 years.
  
The notice period of Executive Team members is the period specified in the Employment Contracts Act if 
employment is terminated by the employer, and two months if terminated by the employee. When certain 
criteria are met, members of the Executive Team are entitled to a severance pay corresponding to nine 
months’ salary upon termination of employment. 
 
The CEO and other management enjoy ordinary employee benefits. Company management are entitled to 
a car and telephone benefit in line with the company’s current criteria. The management are not entitled to 
additional pension or stock options.   
  

Other related party transactions 

Veikkaus may purchase goods or services from other state-owned companies. The purchase prices and 
delivery conditions for these goods and services are the same as for any other group of customers, and the 
volume of these purchases is small. 

Leasing  liabilities consist of  office equipment.  

Veikkaus has agreed to purchase  for the maintenance and development of the gaming system on an annu-
al basis until the end of 2018, 44 person years 2016, 35 persons years 2017 and 2018.  
  
On 31 Dec 2015, Veikkaus had a total of EUR 18,000 in guarantor’s liabilities related to personnel loans 
from the company’s financial services office.  

Veikkaus’ related parties include the CEO, the Executive Team, the Board of Directors, the Supervisory 
Board, and the other state-owned companies.  

EUR thousand 2015 2014

CEO 459 450

Other members of the Executive Team* 1,054 1,024

Board of Directors 182 187

Supervisory Board 42 55

Total 1,737 1,715

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Other lease payments due in a year 30 38

Lease payments due in more than a year and in a 
maximum of five years

14 44Salaries paid, compensations and employee benefits
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20. Signatures of the financial statements and the Board of Directors’ report  
 

Suvi-Anne Siimes
Chairman of the Board

Eva Liljeblom

Alf Rehn

London, 3 February 2016

Harri Syväsalmi

Juha Koponen
President and CEO

A report on the audit has been issued today.

Helsinki, 11 February 2016
   

KPMG Oy Ab  

Sixten Nyman, Authorised Public Accountant  

Lauri Veijalainen
Vice Chairman of the Board

Minna Metsälä

Tero Ojanperä
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21. List of accounting books and record formats 

General ledger   in digital format

Journal in digital format

Cash accounting and payment transaction records in printed documents

Travel expense claim records in digital format

Memorandum records in printed documents

Accounts receivable ledger in printed documents and in digital format

Onnet accounts receivable ledger in printed documents and in digital format

Accounts payable ledger in digital format

Payroll accounting records in printed documents and in digital format

Depreciation records/Fixed assets in printed documents

Health care records in printed documents and in digital format

Prize records in digital format
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30 Corporate Governance review

Corporate Governance review 2015
Veikkaus’ mission is to generate broad-ranging value 
for Finnish society by operating games reliably and 
responsibly. Veikkaus is a state-owned limited liability 
company that operates in the administrative sector of 
the Finnish Ministry of Education and Culture. The State’s 
commitment to the company’s liabilities is equal to its 
shareholding, and its role is limited to the responsibili-
ties of a shareholder.

Veikkaus’ corporate governance is based on the Lotteries 
Act (1047/2001), the Finnish Limited Liability Companies 
Act, and the company’s Articles of Association. Veikkaus’ 
exclusive right to operate lotteries, betting, and pools 
games is laid down by the Lotteries Act. The gaming acti-
vities are regulated by virtue of the Government Decree on 
Gaming Activities and the Ministry of the Interior Decree 
on the Rules of Play.

Veikkaus has adopted the Finnish Corporate Governance 
Code 2010, in addition to which the company’s activities 
are guided by the effective guidelines and principles issued 
by the Ministry of Education and Culture on Corporate 
Governance. Veikkaus complies with the new Corporate 
Governance Code 2015, which entered into force at the 
beginning of 2016.  

Governing Bodies

General meeting
Veikkaus’ supreme administrative body is the General 
Meeting, which, in accordance with the company’s Articles 
of Association, elects the Board of Directors, the Supervi-
sory Board and the Auditor. All regular and extraordinary 
General Meetings are attended by a representative of the 
Ministry of Education and Culture, exercising the owner’s 
decision-making power. A State representative attends 
these meetings under power of attorney. This representa-
tive is from the Ministry of Education and Culture and may 
be the relevant Minister, the State Secretary, Permanent 
Secretary, Director of the Administration Department, or 
another official from the Administration Department. 

2015
The regular General meeting was held on 19 March 2015. 
It was attended by Ms Piia Viitanen, Minister of Culture and 
Housing, as the representative of the Finnish State; officials 
from the Ministry of Education and Culture: Mr Kari Anttila, 
State Secretary; Ms Anita Lehikoinen, Permanent Secretary; 

Talous
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committee

Audit
committee
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audit

General meeting
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Functions

Supervisory
board

Board of
directors

Production

Business
operations

Communications
and CSR

Business
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Ms Merja Leinonen, Government Counsellor; and Mr Esko 
Pyykkönen, Special Government Advisor; Ms Suvi-Anne 
Siimes, Chairman of Veikkaus’ Board of Directors; Mr Lauri 
Veijalainen, Vice Chairman of Veikkaus’ Board of Directors; 
Mr Ilkka Kanerva, Member of Parliament and Chairman of 
Veikkaus’ Supervisory Board; Mr Matti Saarinen, Member 
of Parliament and Vice Chairman of Veikkaus’ Supervisory 
Board; Mr Juha Koponen, Veikkaus’ CEO; and as Veikkaus’ 
other representatives Mr Olli Sarekoski, Executive Vice 
President; Ms Maija Hjelt, Senior Vice President, Finance; 
and Mr Pekka Ilmivalta, Senior Vice President, Communi-
cations and CSR. 

The meeting adopted the Financial Statements of 2014; 
laid down the allocation of the profit for the financial year 
and undistributed prizes fund; decided to discharge the 
Board of Directors and Supervisory Board from liability; 
determined the remunerations to the Supervisory Board, 
Board of Directors and the Auditors; and appointed a new 
Supervisory Board, Board of Directors and Auditor to the 
company. 

Board of Directors
According to the company’s Articles of Association, Veik-
kaus’ Board of Directors may have a minimum of five and 
a maximum of eight members. In 2015, the Board of 
Directors had eight members until 29 May, after which 
they were seven. The General Meeting appoints the Board 
members, the Chairman, and the Vice Chairman for one 
year at a time. None of the members of the Board belongs 
to the company’s executive management. 

2015
The Board of Directors continued to be chaired by Ms 
Suvi-Anne Siimes, CEO of the Finnish Pension Alliance 
TELA. The Board members to continue were Mr Lauri 
Veijalainen, Chief Financial Officer (Vice Chairman), Ms 
Eva Liljeblom, Professor; Mr Alf Rehn, Professor; and Mr 
Tero Ojanperä, CEO. 

In the General meeting of 19 March 2015, three new 
members were appointed to Veikkaus’ Board: Ms Anne 
Berner, Chairman of Board; Ms Minna Metsälä, CEO; and 
Harri Syväsalmi, Director. The positions at the Board were 
left vacant, as Ms Leena Harkimo. Member of Parliament; 
Ms Riitta Kaivosoja, Director General; and Mr Jussi Saramo, 
Political Secretary and Adviser to a Member of the Euro-
pean Parliament, left the Board. Ms Anne Berner left the 
Board after her nomination as Minister of Transport and 
Communications on 29 May 2015.  

The tasks and responsibilities of Veikkaus’ Board are de-
termined by the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act. 
In addition, the Board of Directors must pay attention to 
the company’s special task laid down by the Lotteries Act, 
which enjoins the company to operate games in a way 
which ensures the legal protection of those engaging in 
gaming activities, prevents crime and abuse, and reduces 
the social and health-related detriments caused by gaming.

The Board takes under advisement all issues that have 
broad-ranging significance for the company. These inclu-
de the company’s strategic guidelines, key investments, 
risk management principles, the annual action plan and 

budget, and the related follow-up. The Board appoints the 
CEO and the Senior Vice Presidents working directly under 
the CEO, and determines their salaries and other benefits.

The Board drafts an annual operational agenda that in-
cludes the primary tasks of the Board of Directors and its 
Chairman, a profile of the Board Committees, a meeting 
schedule, and the matters to be discussed at the Board 
meetings. The Board also conducts a self-assessment of 
its activities for each term.

Every term, the Board members provide a statement to 
indicate their independence of the company and its share-
holders. Of the Board members, Mr Harri Syväsalmi holds 
an office at the Ministry of Education and Culture. Based 
on the statements submitted, the other Board members 
are independent of both the company and its shareholders.

Veikkaus’ Board of Directors convened nine (9) times during 
2015, with an average participation rate of 89 percent. 
In its meetings the Board focused on the securing of the 
competitiveness of Veikkaus and the Finnish gaming 
system, while preparations for the merger of the gaming 
operators are underway. 

For the same reason, many meetings centred on the restric-
tive guidelines issued by the officials and their impact on 
the marketing and product development of games. The 
Board followed carefully the implementation of the web 
gaming system in accordance with the new ICT guidelines. 
It also supervised the realisation of corporate responsibi-
lity and responsible gaming. Many of the meetings during 

Corporate Governance review
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Monthly compensations 
(total/year)

Meeting
compensations

Total com-
pensations

Board
meetings

Audit 
committee

Personnel 
committee

Chairman 
Suvi-Anne Siimes

26,400.00 8,000.00 34,400.00 9/9 7/7

Vice Chairman 
Lauri Veijalainen

19,200.00 7,500.00 26,700.00 9/9 6/6

Eva Liljeblom 15,600.00 7,500.00 23,100.00 9/9 6/6

Tero Ojanperä 15,600.00 7,000.00 22,600.00 9/9 5/6

Alf Rehn 15,600.00 4,000.00 19,600.00 6/9 2/7

Minna Metsälä 12,203.23 7,000.00 19,203.23 8/8 6/6

Harri Syväsalmi 12,203.23 6,500.00 18,703.23 8/8 5/6

Anne Berner 3,103.23 500.00 3,603.23 0/2 1/1

Leena Harkimo 3,396.77 1,000.00 4,396.77 1/1 1/1

Riitta Kaivosoja 3,396.77 1,500.00 4,896.77 1/1 1/1

Jussi Saramo 3,396.77 1,000.00 4,396.77 1/1 1/1

Total 181,600.00

The Board of Directors’ monthly and meeting compensations 
(EUR) and attendance rates in 2015

the first half of the year dealt with the development and 
future of the Neighbours game. 
 
The Board Committees
The Board has two internal committees, the Audit Com-
mittee and the Personnel Committee. The Committees 
report regularly to the Board on their activities. 

The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in 
ensuring that the company’s accounting and financial 
administration are appropriately organised and monito-
red, and that internal control, risk management, and the 
external and internal audits are arranged in accordance 
with legislation, regulations and the operating principles 
approved by the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee’s 
composition, meeting practices, and tasks are defined in 
the Audit Committee’s rules of procedure, which have 
been approved by the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee:
• Reviews the information contained in the interim 

reports, financial statements, and annual report, and 
assesses the adequacy of this information

• Assesses the adequacy and effectiveness of the com-
pany’s internal control and risk management systems

• Reviews the Corporate Governance Statement
• Approves the internal control function’s annual ac-

tion plan, studies the annual action plan for external 
audit, and reviews the company’s internal audit and 
financial audit reports

Personnel Committee
The Personnel Committee’s duty is to assist the Board of 
Directors in preparations related to the appointment and 
remuneration of the CEO and other executives, employee 
incentive schemes, and in organisational development. The 
Personnel Committee’s composition, meeting practices, 
and tasks are defined in the Personnel Committee’s rules 
of procedure, which have been approved by the Board of 
Directors.

The Personnel Committee:
• Prepares the general remuneration principles for 

the management and personnel

• Assesses the company’s compliance with legislation, 
regulations and internal guidelines

2015
In 2015 the Audit Committee worked according to the 
rules of procedure approved by the Board of Directors. 

The members of the Audit Committee in 2015 were Mr Lauri 
Veijalainen (Chairman), Ms Riitta Kaivosoja (until 19 March 
2015), Ms Anne Berner (19 March 2015 - 29 May 2015), Ms 
Eva Liljeblom, and Mr Tero Ojanperä. During the review period, 
the Audit Committee met six (6) times (including one email 
conference). The average attendance rate was 91 percent.
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• Prepares recommendations on issues relating to 
the CEO’s salary and incentives, as well as the 
terms and conditions relating to the remuneration 
of those working directly under the CEO

• Assesses the performance of the CEO and the 
senior management

• Assesses the organisation’s structure and 
effectiveness 

• Assesses the company’s HR policy and practices

2015
In 2015 the Personnel Committee focused primarily on 
preparing the management compensation scheme, suc-
cessor planning and evaluation of key employee risks.

The members of the Personnel Committee were 
Ms Suvi-Anne Siimes (Chairman), Mr Alf Rehn, Ms Minna 
Metsälä (from 19 March 2015) Mr Harri Syväsalmi (from 
19 March 2015), Ms Leena Harkimo (until 19 March 2015), 
and Mr Jussi Saramo (until 19 March 2015). During the 
period under review, the Personnel Committee met seven 
(7) times with an average attendance rate of 79 percent. 

Supervisory Board
Veikkaus’ Supervisory Board has 14 members. One of 
them is a personnel representative, who also has a named 
personal deputy. The other members are appointed ac-
cording to the power distribution in Parliament. As a rule, 
the General Meeting appoints the Supervisory Board for a 
two-year term. The Supervisory Board appoints a Chairman 
and a Vice Chairman from amongst its members for one 
year at a time. 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for supervising the 
company’s governance by the Board of Directors and the 
CEO, and for issuing a statement on the Financial State-
ments and the Auditors’ Report to the General Meeting. 
Due to the special status of the company, the Supervisory 
Board acts as an important cooperation body and a forum 
for discussion. 

2015 
In the General Meeting on 19 March 2015, it was decided 
that the Supervisory Board in office should continue. The 
members of the Supervisory Board were: Members of Par-
liament Ilkka Kanerva, Timo Heinonen, and Lenita Toivakka 
of the National Coalition Party, Members of Parliament 
Sirpa Paatero, Tuula Väätäinen, and Matti Saarinen of the 
Social Democratic Party of Finland, Member of Parliament 
Timo Soini, and Head of Office Marja-Leena Leppänen of 
the Finns Party; Members of Parliament Sirkka-Liisa Anttila 
and Jari Leppä of the Centre Party; Member of Parliament 
Kari Uotila of the Left Alliance; Member of Parliament 
Outi Alanko-Kahiluoto of the Green Party; and Member of 
Parliament Stefan Wallin of the Swedish People’s Party.

The composition of the Supervisory Board was altered 
following a decision by the sole shareholder on 13 October 
2015. The members to continue were Mr Ilkka Kanerva, 
Ms Sirkka-Liisa Anttila, Mr Jari Leppä, Ms Marja-Leena 
Leppänen, and Mr Stefan Wallin. The new members to be 
appointed were Member of Parliament Paula Risikko of 
the National Coalition Party, Member of Parliament Kauko 
Juhantalo of the Centre Party, Members of Parliament 
Mika Niikko and Jani Mäkelä of the Finns Party, Members 

Supervisory Board members’ meeting 
compensations in 2015 (EUR) and 
attendance rate

Meetings Compensations Total

Kanerva Ilkka, Chairman 6/7 800.00 4,800.00 

Alanko-Kahiluoto Outi 4/5 500.00 2,000.00 

Anttila Sirkka-Liisa 6/7 500.00 3,000.00 

Arhinmäki Paavo 2/2 500.00 1,000.00 

Feldt-Ranta Maarit 2/5 500.00 1,000.00 

Gustafsson Jukka 2/2 500.00 1,000.00 

Heinonen Timo 5/5 500.00 2,500.00 

Juhantalo Kauko 2/2 500.00 1,000.00 

Järvinen Heli 2/2 500.00 1,000.00 

Leppä Jari 7/7 500.00 3,500.00 

Leppänen Marja-Leena 6/7 500.00 3,000.00 

Mäkelä Jani 2/2 500.00 1,000.00 

Mäkisalo-Ropponen 
Merja

2/2 500.00 1,000.00 

Niikko Mika, Vice 
Chairman

2/2 600.00 1,200.00 

Risikko Paula 1/2 500.00 500.00 

Saarinen Matti, 
Vice Chairman

5/5 600.00 3,000.00 

Soini Timo 4/5 500.00 2,000.00 

Uotila Kari 5/5 500.00 2,500.00 

Urpalainen Anu 3/5 500.00 1,500.00 

Wallin Stefan 6/7 500.00 3,000.00 

Väätäinen Tuula 5/5 500.00 2,500.00 

Total                                           42,000.00 
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by Veikkaus do not receive separate compensation for 
participating in the work of the Supervisory Board. 

Company management
The CEO’s duty is to manage and supervise the company’s 
business operations in accordance with the Finnish Limited 
Liability Companies Act and in line with the strategy and 
guidelines approved by the company’s Board of Directors. 
The Executive Team assists the CEO in this task. The 
Executive Team’s tasks include drafting the company’s 
strategy, action plan and a budget proposal for the Board 
of Directors, as well as decision-making and follow-up in 
significant projects and investments. 

2015
In the year under review, the Executive Team consisted 
of the CEO and five other members. The CEO served as 
the Team’s Chairman. The Executive Team convened 23 
times during the year. 

The Board of Directors appoints Veikkaus’ CEO and the Vice 
Presidents working directly under the CEO. The Executive 

2015 2015 2014 2014

Fixed share Variable share Fixed share Variable share

CEO Juha Koponen 372,840 86,526 372,840 76,950

Other Executive Team Members 857,125 197,224 841,022 182,813

Total 1,229,965 283,750 1,213,862 259,763

Team members submitted stakeholder reports in 2015, 
according to which all the members are independent of 
the company’s stakeholders. 

Benefits, bonuses, and incentives 
The CEO and other management enjoy ordinary employee 
benefits (telephone and car benefit) and have no stock 
options. 

The CEO’s notice period is six months if notice is given by 
the company and three months if notice is given by the 
CEO. If certain criteria specified in the CEO contract are met 
when the contract is terminated by the company, the CEO 
is entitled to severance pay corresponding to six months’ 
salary. The CEO’s retirement age is 65 years. The Executive 
Team members have a two-month notice period when the 
employment is terminated by the employee, and a notice 
period determined in Veikkaus’ collective bargaining agree-
ment (1–6 months) if the employment is terminated by the 
employer. When certain criteria are met, members of the 
Executive Team are entitled to severance pay corresponding 
to nine months’ salary. 

Veikkaus has an incentive scheme covering all personnel. 
This scheme includes discretionary performance-based 
bonuses, special bonuses and performance incentives. 
The performance incentive is an annual one-time pay-
ment based on how successful the company has been in 
achieving its strategic goals. Function and unit-specific 
targets and benchmarks are set as part of the operational 
planning process. The company’s success in achieving its 
objectives is assessed at the end of the financial year, and 

of Parliament Merja Mäkisalo-Ropponen and Jukka Gus-
tafsson of the Social Democratic Party of Finland, Member 
of Parliament Paavo Arhinmäki of the Left Alliance, and 
Member of Parliament Heli Järvinen of the Green Party.

Veikkaus’ personnel representative in the Supervisory 
Board was QA Engineer Reino Långström, and his deputy 
was Production Controller Teijo Loikkanen. The Supervi-
sory Board appointed Mr Ilkka Kanerva as Chairman and 
Mr Mika Niikko as Vice Chairman. 

The Supervisory Board met seven (7) times during 2015. 
The special themes of the meetings were questions related 
to the development of the operating environment and the 
gaming system, as well as the company’s special mission. 
The average attendance rate was 91 percent. 

The Chairmen and the members of the Supervisory Board 
are only compensated for attending the meetings. The 
Chairman’s meeting compensation is EUR 800, the Vice 
Chairman’s EUR 600, and that of the other members EUR 
500 per meeting. The personnel representatives employed 

Executives’ incentives 2015 (EUR)
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the incentives paid are calculated as a percentage of the 
recipient’s annual salary. The maximum rate varies from 
7 to 30 percent, depending on the personnel group. The 
maximum rate for the CEO and the Management Team 
was 30 percent in 2015. 

The incentives to the CEO and the Executive Team con-
sisted of two target sections in 2015. The first section 
was related to the company’s special mission, covering 
the promotion of responsible gaming activities through 
registered gaming and the development of the company’s 
public image as a responsible operator. The second section 
focused on the company’s profitability. 

The Board of Directors determines the incentives for 
the Executive Team and the performance bonus criteria 
covering all personnel.

Supervision of gaming activities

In accordance with section 42:2 of the Lotteries Act 
(506/2009), Veikkaus’ lottery, pools, and betting op-
erations are supervised by the National Police Board 
working under the Ministry of the Interior. The Ministry 
approves the rules of play and the National Police Board 
supervises compliance with these rules. In addition, the 
company engages in continuous dialogue with repre-
sentatives of both the Ministry of the Interior and the 
National Police Board.
 
Veikkaus’ gaming activities are monitored by official 
supervisors appointed by the Ministry, who also confirm 

the game results and number of prizes for each round. 
The Ministry handles players’ complaints concerning prize 
payouts, and issues recommended decisions on them. 

2015
In 2015 a total of 59 recommended decisions were issued, 
whereas in the previous year, they numbered 60.

In addition to the gaming industry’s security certificate, 
Veikkaus has also been awarded information security 
and quality certificates. External supervisors ensure that 
the company operates according to these standards. Det 
Norske Veritas (DNV) audited Veikkaus’ compliance with 
the World Lottery Association Security Standards WLA-
SCS:2012 once during the year under review. Compliance 
with the ISO 9001:2008 quality standard and ISO/IEC 
27001:2013 information security standard is assessed 
by Inspecta Sertifiointi Oy, which conducted two audits 

in 2015. During the year under review, the information 
security certificate was updated to correspond to the 
present standard version. The audits concluded that 
Veikkaus continues to fulfill the requirements of the 
standards.

Internal control

Overview of internal control
Internal control refers to a process that helps the Board 
of Directors and the executive management to gain rea-
sonable certainty of the following issues:

• The company’s operations are profitable, efficient, 
responsible, and consistent with the company’s 
strategy

• Financial reporting and other information used 
by the management are reliable, sufficient, and 
up-to-date
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• The company complies with the applicable legisla-
tion and regulations, the rules of play, and Veikkaus’ 
internal rules and guidelines

 
Veikkaus’ internal control covers all strategies, processes, 
practices and management structures that contribute to 
the attainment of Veikkaus’ targets. 

Control environment

Company mission and values
Veikkaus’ mission and values form the basis for internal 
control. Veikkaus’ mission is to generate broad-ranging 
value for Finnish society by operating games reliably and 
responsibly. Veikkaus’ vision is to be the best gaming 
company in the world. 

The values guiding Veikkaus’ operations are:  
• For the common good: Veikkaus produces broad-rang-

ing value for Finns. Veikkaus gives Finns the chance 
to participate in the creation of the common good 
by playing securely and reliably. We also offer Finns 
the opportunity to work towards the common good. 
Veikkaus indirectly employs tens of thousands of 
Finns.

• Responsibly: CSR is at the very heart of Veikkaus’ 
strategy and actions in practice. Our customers must 
be able to rely on us one hundred percent. Being 
responsible for our operations to society, we shall 
report on our operations widely and openly.

• Reliably: Veikkaus’ employees can rely on each other 
under any circumstances. Reliable operations also 

involve open interaction. Customers can always have 
confidence in the games Veikkaus offers. 

• Creatively: Veikkaus wants its games, services and 
way of working to reflect creativity and enjoyment. 
The personnel are also encouraged to be innovative. 

Management and steering system
Operational planning and target setting form the basis 
of Veikkaus’ management. The operational planning and 
management are based on the company’s vision. Long-
term strategic goals are derived from Veikkaus’ vision 
and are, in turn, used to set annual goals in the form of 
annual points of focus. 

For operational planning, the scorecard objectives are 
converted into more detailed function-specific, unit-spe-
cific, and employee-specific targets and actions that are 
monitored using applicable benchmarks. Targets and 

benchmarks must be sufficiently challenging to ensure a 
good performance, development and efficiency. Corrective 
actions taken based on performance monitoring guide the 
company’s operations during the financial year.

The company’s administration is organised in accordance 
with the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act and the 
Finnish Corporate Governance Code. All functions have 
their own steering groups, which make decisions within 
the framework of the chairman’s powers. In addition to 
function-specific steering groups, operations are also 
guided by separate steering groups whose task is to 
coordinate the activities of various functions. 

Veikkaus’ management model is functional; core processes 
have been identified and are used to steer and develop 
operations. Three core processes have been identified for 
business strategy implementation: the service process, 

Communications Control

Risk identification

Risk evaluation

Risk prioritization

Defining responsible parties

Defining management measures
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the product development process, and the steering pro-
cess. In addition to these core processes, Veikkaus has 
support processes (such as financial and HR management 
processes), which ensure the appropriate operation of the 
core processes.

Information systems
Veikkaus’ business relies entirely on technological sys-
tems. The gaming system consists of a central system 
connected to the retailers’ sales terminals, the Internet 
gaming system, and gaming support systems. As reliability 
is a crucial factor in gaming operations, a high degree of 
availability is a key objective of the system. Technological 
back-ups are in place for the gaming system, as well as 
for support systems used to manage and control gaming. 

Rules, guidelines, laws and regulations
Veikkaus’ operations are governed by legislation, company 
values, rules, guidelines and general operating principles. 
Veikkaus’ management and steering system steers in-
ternal controls for ensuring the efficiency, effectiveness, 
responsibility and strategic consistency of operations.

The internal control of financial reporting is a system de-
signed to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability 
of reporting and compliance with the current legislation, 
regulations and accounting standards. Veikkaus has vol-
untarily adopted international IAS/IFRS standards in its 
financial reporting. In addition to legislation, Veikkaus’ 
financial reporting is also governed by the company’s 
standing orders on commercial transactions and other 
financial guidelines. 

The operating models for financial reporting have been 
described and defined in the relevant regulations, working 
instructions and process descriptions.

The Compliance activities have been defined in a separate 
Compliance programme, which is part of risk manage-
ment and internal control. Within the framework of this 
programme, Veikkaus regularly monitors its operations, 
identifies potential areas for development, and undertakes 
measures to correct problems.

Risk management

Risk management at Veikkaus is part of the company’s 
internal control. A risk is defined as any real or potential 
event, action or omission that would weaken the compa-
ny’s chances of attaining its targets. Risk management 
has been integrated with operational planning processes, 
in order to enable regular identification and evaluation of 
both the risks inherent in Veikkaus’ business operations 
and strategic goals, as well as the preparations that have 
been made for such risks.

Responsible parties and risk management measures are 
specified for the most significant and central risks. These 
measures are included in the company’s action plans, 
operating models and other processes. Risk management 
measures are monitored as part of the supervision of 
operational planning and other internal controls.

The Executive Team is responsible for risk management. 
In addition to company-level risk management, risks as-

sociated with financial reporting, compliance, operative 
functions and business operations are evaluated as part 
of the company’s everyday activities. The Vice President 
in charge of each specific responsibility area is in charge 
of conducting these assessments
 
Risks
The most significant risks to target achievement in 2016 
are factors associated with the development of consumer 
demand and the effects of regulation.

Legislation and the Finnish gaming system 
Changes in Veikkaus’ operating environment, in particular 
within the national gaming system and the Lotteries Act, 
are central to determining whether Veikkaus will continue 
to operate as a monopoly. This has a considerable impact 
on the company’s market share, profitability and operating 
models. Potential new restrictions and stricter regulation 
could lead to a situation in which Veikkaus’ prerequisites 
for engaging in business would change. The legal envi-
ronment is affected by both Finnish and EU legislation.

Gaming regulations are not harmonized within the Euro-
pean Union, so regulation is conducted at national level. 
The resolutions of the European Court of Justice play a 
central role in gaming operations. Veikkaus continually 
monitors the ECJ’s resolutions and their impacts.

At the end of October 2012, the European Commission 
sent a letter to Finland, requesting detailed information 
on national gaming legislation and its application. On the 
basis of the response issued by the State of Finland at 
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the end of December 2012, the Commission announced 
in November 2013 that it had closed the infringement 
procedure against Finland. The Commission concluded that 
the Finnish legislation establishing an exclusive right to 
organise gaming services meets the requirements of EU 
law, and is applied systematically and consistently.

Digital business
Digital business continued to show strong growth. Im-
proving customer services is a key priority within Veik-
kaus’ strategy. In order to improve its services, Veikkaus 
continues to invest in digital business. 

Targeting services, making them faster and ensuring their 
reliability will be among our core objectives even in the 
future. During 2015 veikkaus.fi managed to serve all the 
terminals, and the separate mobile interface was closed. 
Thus, we were able to achieve independence of terminals 
even in the targeting of the contents. The acquisition of 
the web store’s back end systems enables us to carry out 
faster and more extensive product and service develop-
ment in accordance with our strategic objectives. 

ICT and data systems 
ICT and the gaming systems in particular are at the core of 
Veikkaus’ business. The growing number of game events 
and the increasing complexity of gaming systems, as 
well as the impact they have on system reliability, pose 
additional challenges. 

System integrity and operational reliability affect customer 
commitment directly and, thus also, the company’s prof-

itability. The reliability of the key systems is monitored 
actively, and the systems are evaluated and tested reg-
ularly. To ensure the uninterrupted operation of the key 
systems, Veikkaus has adequate back-up systems, multiple 
devices and a continuity plan in place. These systems and 
plans are tested regularly. In accordance with a service 
agreement, an external service provider is in charge of a 
significant part of the gaming system’s production and 
maintenance.

Supervision and control measures and 
supervisory responsibilities 

Supervision and control measures consist of the procedures, 
guidelines and regulations that ensure compliance with 
the company’s operating principles and help the company 
to attain its objectives. These supervision and control 
measures help to identify and manage risks posing a threat 
to the attainment of these objectives.

The management and steering system, and the associ-
ated operational planning and monitoring, constitute a 
core component of Veikkaus’ internal control. The control 
function also includes approval procedures, the granting 
of authorisations, specification of the employees’ tasks, 

back-up procedures, securing of assets, and information 
system controls. The company’s executive management 
has been authorised to make decisions in specific areas.
The internal control responsibilities are divided as follows:

• The Executive Team is responsible for the effi-
ciency of operative functions and actual business 
operations. 

• The Executive Vice President is responsible for the 
steering of business operations.

• The Senior Vice President, Finance, is responsible 
for internal control related to financial reporting.

• The Senior Vice President, Communications and CSR, 
is responsible for Compliance operations. 

• The Senior Vice President, Production, is responsible 
for organising the monitoring of ICT operations and 
information systems.

Communications and public relations 

A key component of internal control is adequate, reliable 
and timely information that enables the company to moni-
tor its progress towards achieving its objectives. Effective 
internal communications and management reporting ensure 
that the financial results and any risks threatening the 
company’s key objectives are brought to the attention 
of the company management and the Board of Directors.

Risk factors associated with efficiency, financial objectives 
and the operating environment are regularly discussed at 
meetings of the company’s governing bodies. A more exten-
sive risk management review is presented to the Board of 
Directors once a year. In addition, reports associated with 

Compensations to the audit company 2015

EUR 2015 2014

Audit 31,167 40,676

Other services 75,584 47,916

Total 106,751 88,592
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the Compliance programme are submitted to the Board 
of Directors and Executive Team on an annual basis. The 
Board receives regular reports concerning material changes 
in legislation and the policies of the European Court of 
Justice. Furthermore, the senior executives provide reports 
on their respective areas of responsibility.

The personnel receive information on the strategic objec-
tives, the targets specified in action plans and in budgets, 
as well as their implementation, on the company intranet 
and in special briefings. Operating models for financial 
reporting are available on the intranet and accessible to 
those involved in financial reporting. Operating models, 
rules and guidelines are also communicated to Veikkaus’ 
personnel in training sessions.

Monitoring

The Board of Directors and its Committees are tasked with 
assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal 
controls and risk management. The duties of the Board’s 
Audit Committee include ensuring that the appropriate 
internal controls are in place for financial administration 
and accounting and that the internal control and risk 
management; auditing, and internal audit are organised in 
accordance with the laws, regulations, and the operating 
principles approved by the company’s Board of Directors.

The Board and the Audit Committee receive regular in-
formation on the company’s progress towards attaining 
its objectives in the form of profit reports and forecasts, 
budget and action plan reports, and audit results.

The key supervisory tool for Veikkaus’ executive manage-
ment is the weekly monitoring of the targets, which is used 
to evaluate the key financial and operative benchmarks. 
Further, monthly financial reports and quarterly reports 
are used to assess the performance by comparing them 
with the company’s strategic objectives, business plans, 
and other plans and measures.

The process of financial reporting is assessed regularly 
and updated in accordance with effective legislation, 
regulations, the reporting standards governing the finan-
cial statements, and any other requirements concerning 
financial reporting.

Internal and external audit

In addition to the continual monitoring described above, 
internal and external audit are used to assess internal 
control and its effectiveness.

The audit was conducted by the Authorised Public Ac-
counting firm KPMG Oy Ab, with Mr Sixten Nyman as 
the Authorised Public Accountant in charge of the audit.

During the year under review, the audit included an as-
sessment of the appropriateness of the internal financial 
management control, including the functionality of the 
controls within financial management. The audit conducted 
during the financial year covered, e.g., the effectiveness of 
the gaming system and controls, including the calculation 
of the retailer commissions and the effectiveness of the 
key control measures concerning financial management, 

especially from the perspective of the effects of the new 
financial management system. 

Veikkaus’ internal audit has been created to generate 
added value and to improve the company’s operations. 

In accordance with the company’s approved operating prin-
ciples, the internal audit assesses the adequacy, reliability 
and effectiveness of the risk management, supervision 
and administration processes. 

The responsibility for the internal audit is assigned to an 
internal auditor, assisted by an external service provider. 
The internal audit falls under the jurisdiction of the CEO 
and reports to the Board of Directors’ Audit Committee. 
The internal audit covers the entire organisation. 

During the period under review, the internal audit assess-
ments have concerned, e.g., digital business and securing 
personal data, as well as managing the money laundering 
risk associated with gaming. 

Corporate Governance Code and deviations

Veikkaus complies with the Finnish Corporate Governance 
Code 2010, following the Comply or Explain principle, and 
the ownership policy guidelines issued by the Ministry of 
Education and Culture on 3 November 2011. In addition, 
Veikkaus complies with the guidelines on compensation 
paid to the executive management and key personnel of 
state-owned companies issued by the Cabinet Committee 
on 13 August 2012. As of the beginning of 2016, we have 
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complied with the new Corporate Governance Code 2015, 
issued on 1 October 2015.

The Corporate Governance Statement has been provided 
separately rather than as part of the Board of Directors’ 
Report. The section covering internal control includes 
a description of the internal controls used in financial 
reporting and the main features of the company’s risk 
management systems. The Finnish Corporate Governance 
Code 2010 and the Corporate Governance Code 2015 are 
publicly accessible at www.cgfinland.fi. 

Veikkaus’ deviations from the Finnish Corporate Govern-
ance Code mainly stem from its ownership structure and 
relate to the specified aspects (in brackets) of the fol-
lowing recommendations: recommendation 1 (publishing 
the minutes of the General Meeting); recommendation 4 

(the attendance of nominees for the Board of Directors 
at the General Meeting); recommendation 11 (notifying 
shareholders of the nominees for the Board of Directors); 
recommendations 28–30 (the appointment of a Nomination 
Committee and its operations); recommendation 42 (paying 
Board fees in shares); recommendation 51 (the guidelines 
for insiders issued by Helsinki Exchange); recommendation 
52 (notification of auditor candidates) and recommendation 
55 (notifications on the company’s website resulting from 
some of the aforementioned deviations).

Tax footprint

Tax footprint refers to tax revenue and tax-like payments 
accrued to society as a result of a company’s business 
activities. In addition to the direct and indirect taxes, 
Veikkaus’ tax footprint covers tax-like payments related 
to the personnel and tax withheld from salaries.

As a state-owned company Veikkaus takes care of its 
obligations related to taxation in an appropriate and trans-
parent manner. In accordance with the Income Tax Act, 
Veikkaus is not liable to pay tax on its profit but returns 
its entire profit to the Ministry of Education and Culture. 
However, Veikkaus does pay Lottery Tax based on the game 
margin incurred by its gaming activities. Since Veikkaus 
is not liable to pay VAT, and therefore cannot deduct the 
VAT included in its purchases of goods and services, the 
VAT paid burdens the company’s financial result in full.

Veikkaus’ tax footprint amounted to a total of EUR 143.4 
million (+3.2%) in 2015. Taxes represented EUR 130.8 
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million of this; the tax-like payments related to the 
personnel were EUR 5.2 million, and the tax withheld 
from the employees’ salaries totalled EUR 7.3 million.

Veikkaus’ biggest tax items are the Lottery Tax, EUR 
107.2 million and VAT, EUR 23.4 million. Of this amount, 
Veikkaus paid to the State a total of EUR 5.1 million of 
VAT associated with EU procurement. We have not paid 
any taxes, profit, dividends, interest, or group subsidies 
abroad. We pay all our taxes to the Finnish State.

Lottery tax: 107.2 (+2.9%)

VAT associated with procurement 
and investments, which has not 
been deducted: 18.3 (+4.8%)

VAT paid by Veikkaus: 5.1 (+1.6%)

Tax withheld fromsalary and paid 
to the State: 7.3 (+4.3%)

Employer contributions: 5.2 (+3.9%)

Real estate tax: 0.2 (+8.7%)

Tax footprint
EUR million (change in %)

Total
143
(+3.2%)
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Supervisory Board 2015

Ilkka Kanerva, Chairman
born 1948 in Lokalahti
Member of Parliament, M.Soc.Sc.
 
Mika Niikko, Vice Chairman
born 1967 in Lahti
Member of Parliament, Youth organization director, Entrepeneur
 
Sirkka-Liisa Anttila 
born 1943 in Marttila TK
Member of Parliament, Administrative notary

Paavo Arhinmäki
born 1976 in Helsinki
Member of Parliament, Student Pol. Sc.

Jukka Gustafsson 
born 1947 in Turku
Member of Parliament, Master of Social  
Sciences, Headmaster

Kauko Juhantalo
born 1942 in Kankaanpää
Member of Parliament, Master of Laws

Heli Järvinen
born 1963 in Tampere
Member of Parliament, Master of Social  
Sciences, Journalist

Jari Leppä
born 1959 in Pertunmaa
Member of Parliament, Farmer
 
Marja-Leena Leppänen 
born 1948 in Rovaniemi
Office Manager, Entrepreneur
 
Jani Mäkelä
born 1976 
Member of Parliament, Systems expert
 
Merja Mäkisalo-Ropponen
born 1958 in Tohmajärvi
Member of Parliament, Doctor in Health Sciences,  
Work community coach 

Paula Risikko
born 1960 in Ylihärmä
Member of Parliament, Doctor in Health Sciences
 
Stefan Wallin
born  1967 in Vaasa
Member of Parliament, M.Adm.Sc

Personnel representatives

Reino Långström
born 1965 in Vihti 
QA Engineer

Teijo Loikkanen, deputy personnel representative
born 1965 in Kuopio
Production Controller
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Board of Directors 2015

 
Suvi-Anne Siimes, Chairman 
born 1963

Lic. Soc. Sc. 
CEO of  the Finnish Pension Alliance TELA

Member of the Board since 17 March 2011, Chairman of 
the Personnel Committee

Professional experience: Minister in the Ministries of 
 Education, Finances, Environment, and Foreign Affairs; 
Member of Parliament; CEO of Pharma Industry Finland; 
Lecturer of National Economics at the University of Helsinki.

Other current Board memberships: Member of Board 
of AEIP (the European Association of Paritarian Institu-
tions), Posti Group Oy (former Itella), Member of Board of 
Yrjö Jahnsson Foundation, Member of Board of Institutum 
Romanum Finlandiae. 

Lauri Veijalainen, Vice Chairman of the Board
born 1968

Bachelor of Science, MBA
Chief Financial Officer, Stockmann Oyj

Member of the Board since 13 March 2012, Chairman of 
the Audit Committee

Professional experience: Development Director for In-
ternational Operations and Deputy Director, Stockmann 
Real Estate, Stockmann Plc., CFO for IKEA Russia and 
CIS; Financial and Administrative Director for Skanska, 
Moscow.

Other current Board memberships: Deputy member 
of the Boards of Directors of Fortrent Oy (JV Cramo - 
Ramirent).
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Minna Metsälä, Member of the Board  
born 1967

M.Sc. (Econ.), HHJ (Approved Member of the Board)
CEO, Mutual non-life insurance company Turva

Member of the Board since 19 March 2015, Member of 
the Personnel Committee

Professional experience: Various executive positions 
at Nokian Renkaat Oyj

Other current Board memberships: Member of Board 
of LocalTapiola General Mutual Insurance Company; 
Member of Board of TTT-Theatre; Chairman of Tampere 
Chamber of Commerce Financial Council; Member of 
Tampere Board Partners / Communications Committee.

 

Tero Ojanperä, Member of the Board
born 1966

D.Sc. (Tech.) 
CEO, Visionplus Oyj

Member of the Board since 14 March 2013, Member of 
the Audit Committee

Professional experience: Various executive roles at 
Nokia Corporation, most recently Executive Vice Presi-
dent, Services, and Board member. 

Other current Board memberships and positions of 
trust: Co-founder and Managing Partner of Visionplus 
Oy, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Visionplus 
Fund I Ky, Chairman of Board of Smilestream Oy; Chair-
man of the Board of Tampere University of Technology; 
Chairman of the TTY Foundation, Kiosked Oy, Member 
of Board of DNA Oy.

Board of Directors
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Eva Liljeblom, Member of the Board 
born 1958

D.Sc. (Econ.)
Professor, Hanken School of Economics

Member of the Board since 18 March 2010, Member of 
the Audit Committee 

Other current Board memberships and positions 
of trust: Member of the Boards of Pensions Fund of 
the Central Fund of the Evangelical Lutheran Church of 
Finland; Fennia Mutual Insurance Company; Chairman 
of the Board of Municipality Finance Plc., and Chairman 
of the State Pension Fund’s Investment Consultative 
Committee in Finland. 
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Harri Syväsalmi, Member of the Board         
born 1952

Director, Ministry of Education and Culture 

Member of the Board since 19 March 2015, Member of the 
Personnel Committee

Professional experience: Secretary General of  World Anti-Dop-
ing Agency WADA; Manager of the athletes’ village during World 
Championships in Athletics 1983; Director of Youth Affairs of 
the City of Vantaa; CEO of Sports Tours Number One Oy.

Other current Board memberships: Chairman of the Expert 
Group on Match Fixing of the Council of the EU; Member of Board 
of Hurrikaani-Loimaa, Member of the organization committee of 
the FIS Nordic Ski Championships 2017; Member of the organ-
ization committee of the World Figure Skating Championships 
2017; Deputy Chairman of the advisory board for sport-related 
ethical matters; and Chairman of the advisory board’s work 
division (National Platform).

Alf Rehn, Member of the Board 
born 1972

D.Sc. (Tech.), M.Sc. (Econ.)
Professor, Åbo Akademi

Member of the Board since 17 March 2011, Member of 
the Audit Committee

Professional experience: Researcher and Research Di-
rector at the Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, 
Sweden; Professor and Chair of Management and Organ-
ization at Åbo Akademi.

Other current Board memberships: Chairman of the 
Board of Advertising agency Satumaa; Member of the 
Board of Logomo Oy; Member of Board of Nordic Business 
Forum Oy, Etuma Oy, and Turku S Group regional cooper-
ative, Member of Board of LA Gamespace; shareholder of 
Alfrigg AB, shareholder of Old Ideas! Oy.

Board of Directors
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Executive Team 2015

President and CEO  
Juha Koponen
born 1966

M.Sc. (Econ.)

Joined Veikkaus in 2012
Previous professional experience in diverse 
management positions
Member of Veikkaus Executive Team since 2012

Executive Vice President  
Olli Sarekoski
born 1965

M.Sc. (Econ.)

Responsible for operative and business management
Joined Veikkaus in 2003
Previous professional experience in diverse 
management positions
Member of Veikkaus Executive Team since 2003

    
 
 
 
 

Senior Vice President, Finance  
Maija Hjelt
born 1970

Diploma in Business Administration

Responsible for internal and external accounting, 
and real estate services
Joined Veikkaus in 1988
Member of Veikkaus Executive Team since 2010 

 
 
 
 

Executive Team
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Senior Vice President, Communications and CSR 
Pekka Ilmivalta 
born 1970

Master of Laws (trained on the bench)

Responsible for communications, sponsorship,  
stakeholder relations, CSR, and legal affairs and human 
resources. 
Joined Veikkaus in 2003
Previous professional experience as an advocate and 
with sports organizations
Member of the Executive Team since 2004

Senior Vice President, Production
Esa Valtonen
born 1952

B.Sc. (Natural Science)

Responsible for information management, games pro
duction, production services and corporate security
Joined Veikkaus in 1991
Previous professional experience includes management 
positions in information management and software 
production
Member of the Executive Team since 1997

Senior Vice President, Business Development  
Jari Vähänen
born 1965

M.Soc.Sc.

Responsible for international affairs and business 
development
Joined Veikkaus in 1995
Previous professional experience includes positions in 
the Finnish Trotting and Breeding Association (Hippos)
Member of the Executive Team since 2004 

Executive Team
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Official Supervisors and Auditors 2015

Secretary to Management 
Sari Aalto

Senior Officer 
Jukka Hertell 

Administrative Officer 
Hannele Juusela

Chief Superintendent 
Niina Koivisto

Chief Superintendent 
Mia Poutanen

Senior Detective Constable 
Sanna Salonen

Chief of Security 
Kari Santalahti 

Engineer, Forensics 
Petri Varjos

Senior Police Lawyer 
Markus Välimäki

Senior Detective Constable 
Markus Metsänen

Auditor

Authorised Public Accountant 
Sixten Nyman, 
KPMG Oy Ab
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